1979

State of Utah v. Eloy Paul Lopez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, ELOY PAUL LOPEZ, appeals from his conviction of the crime of Murder in the Second Degree, in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After trial and conviction by jury, the Court entered judgment of guilty for the the crime of Murder in the Second Degree against the appellant and subsequently committed the appellant to the Utah State Prsion for the term as provided by Law, of Five Years to Life.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the case dismissed, or in the alternative, to have the case remanded to the Third Judicial

District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 10, 1977, the appellant and one Lynn Oliver had a fight in the Drift Inn Bar in Lark, Utah. The fight continued for some time inside the bar at which point Lynn Oliver appeared to be getting the best of the appellant. The bar tender, Meryl Watson, put both combatants outside of the bar to continue the fight. (R. 246).

The fight continued outside the back door of the Drift Inn Bar with several observers peering through the back window of the establishment. One of the observers, Kimberly Horrocks, went out of the front door of the establishment while the fight was going on in the back parking lot.

Miss Horrocks testified that after leaving through the front door, she went around the outside of the building in order to be able to more closely observe the fight. Miss Horrocks testified that she saw Lynn Oliver fall down. She also testified that when after Lynn Oliver was on the ground, she saw the appellant walk over to him and kick him. (R. 363). Mr. Oliver rolled over according to her testimony, and the appellant kicked him again.

Other observers testified that they witnessed the victim, Lynn Oliver, on the ground and that they observed the appellant holding the victim in his arms and giving him mouth to mouth resuscitation. (R. 297). Paramedics were dispatched to the location of the fight. Subsequently, they performed

first aid measures on Lynn Oliver, and subsequently transported him to the hospital. (R. 405).

After Lynn Oliver's arrival at the hospital he was treated by Dr. John Sanders. Dr. Sanders testified that he treated the victim, Lynn Oliver, after his arrival at the hospital. He testified that he attempted to treat Lynn Oliver's apparent brain damage through the use of chemicals, but that he felt that the victim had no chance for neurological recovery. (R. 463). The doctor further testified that after two EEG's had been performed showing no brain activity that Lynn Oliver was neurologically dead and subsequently the machines maintaining life support of the victim were turned off. Subsequently, all life functions ceased.

Deputy State Medical Examiner, Terry H. Rich, testified that he was the pathologist who performed the autopsy on Lynn Oliver on November 13, 1977. He testified that he observed multiple abrasions on the head and face of the body of Lynn Oliver and that he observed two fractures of the skull and that underneath the skull he observed a significant subdural hemorrhage between the bone on top of the brain tissue. (R. 425). Dr. Rich testified that the subdural hemorrhaging would have been the cause of the death of Lynn Oliver. (R. 426).

Dr. Rich further testified that the nature of the fractures was such that they would have to have been caused by separate forces of some sort. (R. 428). Dr. Rich testified that the nature of the injuries was consistent with the victim having

been kicked twice; once from one direction, from the left side of his head, and once on the forehead, by a boot. (R. 429).

The appellant testified in his own behalf that he was, in fact, involved in a fight with the victim but denied having kicked the victim while the victim layed on the ground. The appellant stated that on the 10th day of November, 1977, that he was drinking with the victim when they became involved in a fight. (R. 498). The appellant and the victim struggled inside the bar for some time after which Meryl Watson threw them both outside. (R. 501). After they were outside, both parties swung at one another, drunkenly, both of them fell down. The victim then started to shake and went into convulsions. The appellant took out the victim's false teeth and gave him mouth to mouth resuscitation. (R. 505). Appellant denied having at any time kicked the victim in the head. (R. 519).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF ANOTHER CRIME IN VIOLATION OF RULE 55 OF THE UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE.

The appellant testified in his own behalf that the death of Lynn Oliver occurred during mutual combat between the appellant and Lynn Oliver. The appellant testified that the fight on the 10th day of November, 1977, arose out of an argument over a fight that had occurred approximately two weeks earlier between the appellant and a third individual named "Donny". (R. 492).

On cross examination of the appellant, counsel for the respondent sought to develop the details of that earlier fight. Counsel asked whether, on that earlier occasion, he had kicked Donny in the head while Donny lay on the ground. Counsel for appellant objected to this question and moved for a mistrial, which motions were denied and the appellant's answer of "no" was allowed to stand. (R. 518).

In rebuttal, the respondent called to the witness stand Janice Ortega, who testified, over appellant's objection, that on the earlier occasion of the fight between appellant and "Donny" that she had observed the appellant kick "Donny" while he lay on the ground. (R. 556). Counsel made repeated objections to the testimony including a motion for a mistrial, (R. 557), but the motions were denied and the testimony of the details of the earlier altercation were admitted into evidence. Appellant subsequently moved for a new trial which motion was denied. (R. 211, 217).

The effect of the testimony is clear. The respondent had earlier introduced the testimony of Kimberly Horrocks that she witnessed the appellant kicking Lynn Oliver in the head while he lay on the ground. The appellant denied that he kicked Lynn Oliver. (R. 518).

Respondent introduced evidence of another criminal act in order to discredit the appellant generally as well as to impeach appellant's testimony that he did not kick Lynn Oliver on the occasion of which the instant charges arose. The earlier alleged incident of kicking was used to prove similar conduct

on another occasion. In addition, the prejudicial effect of such testimony is apparent.

Rule 55 of the Utah Rules of Evidence makes evidence of other crimes generally inadmissible. The substance of Rule 55 is as follows:

Subject to Rule 47 evidence that a person committed a crime or civil wrong on a specified occasion, is inadmissible to prove his disposition to commit crime or civil wrong as the basis for an inference that he committed another crime or civil wrong on another specified occasion but, subject to Rules 45 and 48 such evidence is admissible when relevant to prove some other material fact including absence of mistake or accident, motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge or identity. (Rule 55, Utah Rules of Evidence.)

The provisions of Rule 55 are taken directly from the Uniform Rules of Evidence (Rule 55) and are substantially similar to Rule 404(b) of the Federal Rules of Evidence. While the Utah Rules of Evidence became effective in 1971, the substance of Rule 55 had been in effect some time before that, since the Utah Supreme Court expressly adopted a similar rule promulgated by the American Law Institute in its Model Code of Evidence in the case of State v. Scott, 175 P.2d 1016 (1947).

The reasons for the general inadmissibility of prior bad acts have been widely recognized by legal scholars. As Professor Norman Garland said in an article entitled Impeachment Through Proof of Prior Bad Acts and Prior Convictions, prepared for the National College of Criminal Defense Lawyers and Public Defenders, June, 1978:

Evidence of character in any form, whether reputation, opinion from observation, or specific acts will not

generally be received to prove that the person whose character is sought to be shown engaged in certain conduct, or did so with a given intent on a particular occasion. The reason for this rule is that when character is used for this purpose it is not essential, as it is when character is in issue, and generally it comes with too much dangerous baggage of prejudice, distraction from the issues, time consumption, and hazards of surprise. This long established rule thus forbids the prosecution, unless and until the accused gives evidence of good character, to introduce initially evidence of bad character of the accused. It is not irrelevant, but in the setting of jury trial the danger of prejudice outweighs the probative value. Bad character and prior bad acts may not be shown for proof of action in conformity therewith.

McCormick is in accord:

The long-established rule, accordingly, forbids the prosecution, unless and until the accused gives evidence of his good character, to introduce initially evidence of the bad character of the accused. It is not irrelevant, but in the setting of jury trial the danger of prejudice outweighs the probative value.

This danger is at its highest when character is shown by other criminal acts, and the rule about the proof of other crimes is but an application of the wider prohibition against the initial introduction by the prosecution of evidence of bad character. The rule is that the prosecution may not introduce evidence of other criminal acts of the accused unless the evidence is substantially relevant for some other purpose than to show a probability that he committed the crime on trial because he is a man of criminal character.

However, courts have long accepted, and Rule 55 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provide for, exceptions to the inadmissibility of prior criminal or civil wrongs generally. Rule 55 lists the exceptions recognized in this jurisdiction: "absence of mistake or accident, motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge or identity".

The question before this Court is quite simply: Which of the exceptions set forth above could possibly accommodate the admission of testimony about the earlier altercation between the appellant and the victim? The evidence belies any contention that absence of mistake or accident could be made. Prior fights or arguments frequently relate to motive in homicide cases. (See People v. Thiede, 11 Utah 281, 39 P. 837 (1895)).

However, there is no contention in this case that there was "bad blood" between the victim and the appellant. To the contrary, the record is replete with evidence that the two combatants were friends. It is uncontroverted that on the evening in question contact between the victim and the appellant began as a few drinks together as friends. The appellant testified that he regarded the victim as a friend. (R. 507). Immediately after the victim lapsed into convulsion the appellant gave mouth-to-mouth resuscitation in a futile attempt to save the victim's life. (R. 509). There was no contention by the prosecution that the earlier events constituted a motive for intentional killing, and the facts do not support such a contention.

The exceptions of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge and identity are all not applicable in this case. The evidence before this Court and jury as the appellant was asked about the details of the previous fight obviated the necessity for further inquiry into the events.

The true purpose underlying the respondents's delving into this aspect of the earlier fight is clear. The impact upon

the jury of showing that the appellant had kicked another person on another occasion would be to buttress directly the respondent's contention that the appellant kicked the victim on this occasion. It is precisely this type of inference which is unacceptable under Rule 55.

The admission on rebuttal of the testimony of Janice Ortega was nothing more than a thinly disguised attempt to show that appellant had a propensity for violent criminal acts, and was prejudicial to him. As the Court stated in State v. Green, 578 P.2d 512 (Utah 1978):

. . . in the interest of justice the defendant is entitled to be tried on the charge against him, and without having any prejudice aroused by attempting to disgrace him, or show a disposition to commit crime. (578 P. 2d at 513-514).

The effect of such evidence as was here introduced was to inflame and prejudice the jury and to deny appellant a fair trial.

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly held that pursuit of such collateral issues had no legitimate purpose and was prejudicial as well. In State v. Dickson, 12 Utah (2d) 8, 361 P.2d 412 (1961), the Court reversed defendant's conviction of robbery. The Court indicated that allowing cross-examination of defendant as to details of a prior felony conviction was reversible error, but apparently based its reversal on a "matter of graver importance". During cross-examination of defendant, the prosecutor was allowed to elicit testimony of a "disturbance" in Texas, where defendant had been shot, and later charged, but not tried, on the offense of being an accessory to a robbery. The Court found the Texas incident to be

irrelevant to modus operandi.

. . . the Texas incident would have no legitimate probative value as to defendant's complicity in the robbery charged here. It's only effect would be to cast aspersions upon the defendant and to imply that because he was involved in the Texas trouble he is a person of evil character who would be likely to commit such a crime as here charged. The very purpose of excluding such evidence is to prevent the prosecution from smearing an accused by showing a bad reputation and relying on that for a conviction, rather than being required to produce adequate proof of the crime in question. (361 P.2d at 412).

The impact of the evidence of the earlier fight was precisely the same as the evidence of unrelated crime in State v. Kazda, 14 Utah (2d) 266, 382 P.2d 407 (1963):

It implied that the defendant was implicated in other crimes, none of them proven, and could have no other effect than to degrade the defendant and give to the jury the impression that he had a propensity for crime. It is true that the defendant admitted prior felony convictions, but 'we cannot say with any degree of assurance that there would not have been a different result' in the absence of such testimony. (382 P.2d at 409 and quoting Dickson, supra.)

Nor can it be claimed that the appellant somehow opened up this additional, unrelated area by taking the witness stand. While it was necessary to set the fight that resulted in the death of Lynn Oliver in context, inquiry into irrelevant details had no legitimate purpose and had no direct bearing either on the State's theory of the case or on the defense presented by the defendant.

State v. Putzell, 40 Wash. 2d 174, 242 P.2d 180 (1952) is of interest, there defendant was convicted of first degree murder. Defendant, in addition to pleading not guilty, entered

a plea of insanity or mental irresponsibility. The evidence showed that defendant entered a tavern, approached deceased and fired several shots, one of which hit deceased. Deceased then ran outside, got in a cab, and stated he wanted to go to the hospital. Defendant followed deceased to the cab, and pulled him from it. Defendant then fired three or four more shots into deceased, as he lie on his back. A police officer arrived and disarmed defendant. Defendant stated to the officer:

"Leave me alone. I have been after this guy for a long time and I'm going to get him."
(242 P.2d at 182).

At the trial, defendant testified in his own behalf. He stated that some two years before the homicide, deceased had assaulted him without provocation, and that deceased had struck him on the head with a fire hose nozzle. Defendant stated that as a result of this assault, he was unconscious for a period of some thirteen hours; that surgery was required, in which pieces of skull were removed; that he had become extremely nervous and unable to sleep; that he suffered blackouts, fear of busses and planes; and that his head felt as though ants were crawling in it and an iron band was exerting pressure on it.

During cross-examination of defendant, he denied that he had carried a gun on the night of the assault two years before the homicide. The state rebutted over defendant's objection with two witnesses who testified that while defendant had been unconscious, they had removed a pistol and knife from his pocket.

The trial court held that the evidence was proper rebuttal to defendant's testimony that he was a peaceful, lawabiding citizen, and that it was not impeaching on a collateral matter.

The Supreme Court of Washington reversed. The Court noted that defendant did not deny the shooting, and that his main defense was lack of mental responsibility, caused by deceased's previous aggressive attack. The Court recognized that it was proper for the State to show that defendant, not deceased, had been the aggressor, but that the evidence which the State had presented on that issue was not probative of it.

". . . such testimony was not relevant or material as to the issue of whether or not appellant was the aggressor, and tended to invite the jury to guess, speculate and conjecture." (242 P.2d at 185).

As to whether the evidence was proper rebuttal to defendant's testimony of his lawabiding nature, the Court noted that it was defendant who had raised the issue initially, but held nevertheless that the State could not rebut defendant's testimony by showing specific acts of misconduct, stating:

"No rule permits the general character of the defendant, even when directly put in issue, to be impeached by showing the commission by him of a specific crime, other than the one for which he is on trial." (242 P.2d at 185).

A fortiori, when the character of a defendant is not in issue, it is improper to attempt to show his bad character by specific acts.

The Court in Putzell, supra, also held the matter to be collateral and therefore inadmissible to impeach defendant's testimony.

Finally, (and perhaps most significantly), the Court

stated:

"Conceding, for the sake of argument, that the rebuttal testimony in question might have been material; still it should not have been admitted because its inflammatory nature so far outweighed any materiality it might have had as to be prejudicial. Here was a man being tried on a charge of first degree murder. His defense was that he was mentally irresponsible as the result of a prior unprovoked assault on him by the deceased, and in which occurrence he was not the aggressor. The state, to rebut that contention, introduced evidence of finding a gun and a knife in his pocket. The purpose of that testimony was to portray him as a vicious, quarrelsome man. The very inflammatory nature of this testimony leaves no margin for speculation as to whether or not the jury was swayed by it." (242 P.2d at 186).

The appellant submits that the purpose of Janice Ortega's testimony was identical to the reason set forth in Putzell, supra.

There is one other disturbing aspect of this case.

Even if one assumes, arguendo, that the incident was in some way relevant (which appellant does not concede), whatever minimal probative value it might have had was greatly outweighed by its overwhelming potential of creating undue prejudice. The purpose of introducing the incident was to mislead the jury to the conclusion that appellant was an evil or bad person, one who is quarrelsome and likely to resort to deadly weapons without justification.

By eliciting the testimony the prosecution misled and confused the jury beyond the issue of appellant's character. The introduction of the testimony was desirable to the prosecution not because it shed light directly on the death of the victim in this case, but because it put before the jury damaging and prejudicial

information about the defendant's character.

It is precisely this type of information that the Rules of Evidence seek to avoid. Rule 45 states:

" . . . the judge may in his discretion exclude evidence if he finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk that its admission will . . . (b) create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of confusing the jury, . . . " (Rule 45, Utah Rules of Evidence).

The questions and rebuttal testimony should have been excluded because they did "create substantial danger of undue prejudice", and should have been excluded by the trial court judge.

Under Rule 45 the trial court's failure to exclude such evidence was an abuse of discretion and reversible error.

The admission of the evidence also violated Rule 47, which allows proof of character traits, when relevant, pursuant to Rule 46, except

" . . . that (a) evidence of specific instances of conduct other than evidence of conviction of a crime which tends to prove the conduct bad shall be inadmissible, and (b) in a criminal action evidence of an accused's character . . . (ii) if offered by the prosecution to prove his guilt, may be admitted only after the accused has introduced evidence of his good character."

The admission of the evidence violated Rule 47(a), since a specific instance of conduct was admitted, and it was not a conviction of a crime. Rule 47(b)(ii) was also violated, since the appellant did not introduce "evidence of his good character".

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