1980

## State of Utah v. Eloy Paul Lopez : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN  
ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF ACTS OTHER THAN THE  
ONE FOR WHICH APPELLANT WAS TRIED.

The appellant testified in his own behalf that the death of the victim, Lynn Oliver, occurred as a result

of the fight between the two men, and that the fight arose out of an argument over a previous fight that had occurred two weeks earlier between the appellant and another individual named "Donny" (R.492). Some of the details of the earlier fight were brought out on direct examination by appellant's counsel:

Q. Had you met Donny before?

A. Yes.

Q. Where had you met him?

A. In the Drift Inn about maybe two weeks before that.

Q. Under what circumstances did you meet Donny on that occasion?

A. Well, I walked into the bar with my brother of mine and a friend of mine named Dan, and apparently it was Dan's girlfriend. I was standing there and he pulled a knife out on me. I said, "What are you doing that for? I don't even know you." And then that is when Lynn [victim of the case at bar] took the knife away from him.

Q. After Lynn took the knife away from him, then what happened?

A. I walked over by the pool tables of the Drift Inn and he wanted to fight. So we had a fight at the Drift Inn, Donny and I, but that was over right away. And Lynn took him home and we left. (R.492).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor sought to develop the details of the earlier fight:

Q. Mr. Yengich [counsel for appellant] has talked to you about a fight you had with one Donny Waltz. I believe you said you didn't know Donny very well but you had been in a fight a couple of weeks before this even at the Drift Inn?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who was there when you had that fight with him?

A. My brother Louis. I think Roy Ortega was

- Q. Any other person?
- A. Lynn Oliver was there. Dan Wadsworth was there from West Jordan, and that is all I can recall.
- Q. Had you been drinking that night?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you remember what you were drinking?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What?
- A. Beer.
- Q. Very much?
- A. No.
- Q. Your claim was that Donny pulled a knife on you?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And Lynn took the knife away from him?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Would you describe for me again what kind of a fight you had with him after the knife had been taken away from him?
- A. A fist fight.
- Q. Describe it for me. Kind of a blow-for-blow?
- A. It was only--not even maybe three or four blows.
- Q. Who hit whom?
- A. Pardon?
- Q. Did you hit him?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. How many times?
- A. Once.
- Q. Did he hit you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. How many times?
- A. I don't know. Maybe once or twice. I tried to hit him still. I hit the steel pole and broke my hand.
- Q. Did either one of you ever go to the ground?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did either one of you fall to the ground?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Which one?
- A. Donny did.
- Q. What did you do?
- A. What did I do when he was on the ground? Just let him get up.
- Q. Do you have any recollection of having kicked him in the head?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Yengich: I object and ask that be stricken. I ask that we move for a mistrial. Counsel has asked a question like that and there is no good faith repetition.

The Court: The answer is no and the answer may remain, and the motion is denied.

Q. (By Mr. VanDam): Your testimony is you did not kick him at all; is that what I heard?

A. Yes.

Mr. Yengich: The question was asked and answered.

The Court: Cross-examination.

The Witness: Yes.

Q. (By Mr. VanDam): You did not kick him?

A. I did not kick him.

Q. Or attempt to kick him?

A. No, sir. (R.516-519).

In rebuttal, the prosecution called Janice Ortega, a bartender at the Drift Inn, who testified over appellant's objection, that on the earlier occasion of the fight between appellant and "Donny" she had observed the appellant kick "Donny" while he lay on the ground:

Q. On that date, did you have occasion to see a man by the name of Donny Waltz?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you see a man named Eloy Lopez?

A. Yes.

Q. What were you doing that night?

A. I was working that night.

Q. Did you see a fight that night in the bar?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you describe that fight, please?

Mr. Yengich: Objection to any description of the fight as not relevant to the issue before the Court. We are talking about an altercation on the 10th of November.

The Court: Well, which fight are you talking about?

fight which Mr. Lopez said he did not use his fist. That is the one.

The Court: We will let her answer some questions concerning the fight that she can testify to that was about two weeks before.

Mr. Yengich: Your Honor, we will object to their characterization of the fight. He knows the date; we would suggest to the Court that characterization was only meant to inflame the jury, and it was improper, and ask the jury to be admonished about that.

The Court: I don't think his question was improper or intended to do anything of the kind. It has been described, the people, the two men had a fight a couple of weeks before. That is what he is asking her.

Q. (By Mr. Marson): Can you describe that right, Janice?

A. I didn't see what happened to start it. I was at the other end of the bar.

Q. Describe it from the point you saw it. What did you see?

A. I seen Donny fall down and I did see Eloy [appellant] kick him. Donny had his arms up around his head.

Mr. Yengich: Object. It is only prejudicial. It is in violation of Rule 45 of Utah rules of evidence. There is no necessity of proving something like this for any issue under the rules of evidence in the State of Utah. We would object and ask it be stricken. There is no purpose for any issue under the rules of evidence in the State of Utah. We would object and ask it be stricken. There is no purpose for it.

The Court: The motion to strike is denied.

Q. (By Mr. Marson): You saw him kick him?

A. Yes.

The Court: That is what she testified to. . .

Q. (By Mr. Marson): What did you see?

A. I seen Donny laying down and Eloy was kicking him. . . . (R.555-557).

Appellant claims in his brief that the prosecutor introduced "evidence of another criminal act in order to discredit the appellant generally as well as to impeach appellant's testimony that he did not kick Lynn Oliver on the occasion of which the instant charge arose" (Appellant's Brief, pp. 5-6, 8-9). He further alleges that "the purpose of introducing the details of the incident was to mislead the jury to the conclusion that appellant was an evil or bad person, one who is quarrelsome and likely to resort to deadly weapons without justification" (Appellant's Brief, p. 13) (emphasis added).

Appellant argues that receipt of evidence regarding the earlier fight was a violation of Rules 55 and 47 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, and that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to exclude such evidence, thereby violating Rule 45, U.R.E.

Respondent submits that cross-examination and rebuttal evidence regarding the prior fight was proper and justifiably received by the trial court pursuant to the following theories:

A

SAID EVIDENCE WAS WITHIN THE  
RULES AND SCOPE OF PROPER CROSS-  
EXAMINATION.

Evidence of the earlier fight was initially introduced on direct examination by appellant's counsel (R. 492).

On cross-examination counsel for the State merely pursued the details of the fight such as "who hit who," what kind of a fight was involved (R.516-519), and whether appellant kicked Waltz in the head during the fight (R.518-519).

The rules of cross-examination are clearly set forth in this state. Utah Code Ann. § 77-44-5 (1953), as amended, states in relevant part:

If a defendant offers himself as a witness, he may be cross-examined by the counsel for the state the same as any other witness.

The Section of the former Code (Section 5015, Comp. Laws 1907) verbatim in relevant part to Section 77-44-5 was commented upon by this Court in State v. Vance, 38 Utah 1, 110 Pac. 434 (1910):

. . . section 5015 in express terms provides that the accused, if he becomes a witness, must be treated on cross-examination the same as any other witness. In view of the provisions of these sections, the test the court must keep in mind is: Would the particular question be proper cross-examination if the same were propounded to any other witness who had testified to the same facts that the accused has testified to? If the question would be proper cross-examination if asked of any other witness it would likewise be if propounded to one on trial for a criminal offense, or vice versa. The rule is that as to whether the accused has made certain admissions, or has made statements of material facts against himself and everything which may contradict,

modify, explain, or make clearer, limit or enlarge the meaning of the statements made by him while testifying with respect to any subject of which he has testified, may be inquired into on cross-examination. The inquiry must, however, be limited to the subject-matter gone into by the witness in his testimony in chief. . . . Where the accused, as a witness, denies that he committed or was connected with the commission of the criminal act or acts constituting the offense for which he is being tried, the cross-examination ordinarily must be permitted to extend to the whole range of facts which in some way are related to the transaction constituting the offense. . . .

110 P.2d at 445 (emphasis added).

Several later cases have reaffirmed this principle holding that areas which an accused opens up for questioning on direct examination are subject to further inquiry on cross-examination. State v. Schieving, 535 P.2d 1232 (Utah 1975); State v. Studham, 572 P.2d 700 (Utah 1977). In the Schieving case, the defendant was found guilty of mishandling of public monies. At trial, evidence of shortages of money within defendant's department other than those for which he was standing trial were admitted by the trial court over defendant's objection. On appeal, his conviction was affirmed and his claim of error regarding admission of such evidence was dismissed:

In this case evidence of another shortage within the defendant's department was not prejudicial, and this is especially true in view of the fact that defendant testified as to the other shortage, and it was his testimony that introduced the subject into

In Studham, the defendant was convicted of rape. One of his grounds of appeal alleged error in allowing cross-examination on a court order prohibiting the defendant from visiting the prosecutrix. In affirming the conviction, this Court stated:

To the defendant's claim of error in allowing cross-examination on a court order prohibiting defendant from visiting the prosecutrix, the state makes two effective rejoinders: First, that the subject was opened up by defendant's own counsel on direct examination and thus could properly be probed on cross-examination. Second, that the testimony was relevant to inquire about the background and relationship between the parties, relied upon by the defendant himself as bearing upon the critical issue, of whether there was consent, or forcible rape.

572 P.2d at 703 (emphasis added).

In State v. Mora, 558 P.2d 1335 (Utah 1977), this Court upheld allowing the prosecution on cross-examination to question the defendant concerning prior offenses, where the defendant chose on direct examination to show through his testimony that he was not a man of violence. On direct examination defendant was asked not only whether or not he had been convicted of a felony but the date and type of felony. He was also asked whether or not a weapon was used in the commission thereof. On cross-examination the prosecutor pursued areas of inquiry tending to refute the inference from defendant's

direct examination testimony that he was not a man of violence. The Court upheld such a line of cross-examination:

Inasmuch as the defendant had chosen to elicit evidence to show that he was not a man of violence, that matter became a legitimate subject of inquiry and refutation. Wherefore, the questions asked by the prosecutor seem reasonably calculated to bring out facts which might tend to contradict or weaken the effect of the defendant's assertion.

558 P.2d at 1336.

Earlier in its opinion, the Court stated the applicable rule of law as it now stands in Utah:

When a defendant offers himself as a witness, he may properly be subjected to the tests of credibility, by questioning him in the same manner and to the same extent as any other witness, as to any matter which would tend to contradict, weaken, or modify the effect of his direct examination.

558 P.2d at 1336.

The record in the present case clearly indicates that appellant, through his counsel, opened up the issue on direct examination regarding the fight between himself and Donny Waltz (R.492). The subsequent questions propounded on cross-examination by counsel for the state regarding details of the fight, including whether or not during the fight appellant kicked Donny Waltz in the head, were well within the boundaries of proper cross-examination. The questions asked by the prosecutor were directly related to the issue of the fight brought

out on direct examination.

Finally, it is a long-standing rule of this Court that matters of cross-examination and the extent thereof rest largely within the discretion of the trial judge. This Court will reverse only if an abuse of that discretion is shown. State v. Starks, 581 P.2d 1015 (Utah 1978); State v. Curtis, 542 P.2d 744 (Utah 1975); State v. Anderson, 27 Utah 2d 276, 495 P.2d 804 (1972). Even if an error is made in limiting or extending the bounds of cross-examination, it is not to be reversed unless it is also shown to be prejudicial. State v. Starks, surpa; State v. Maestas, 564 P.2d 1386 (Utah 1977).

Respondent submits that the cross-examination was proper as it related to the subject matter introduced on direct examination. Furthermore, no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial judge has been shown.

B

SAID EVIDENCE WAS ADMISSIBLE TO  
PROVE A MATERIAL FACT PURSUANT TO  
RULE 55 OF THE UTAH RULES OF  
EVIDENCE.

Rules 55 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states:

Subject to Rule 47 evidence that a person committed a crime or civil wrong on a specified occasion, is inadmissible to prove his disposition to commit crime or civil wrong as the basis for an inference that he committed another crime or civil

wrong on another specified occasion but, subject to Rules 45 and 48 such evidence is admissible when relevant to prove some other material fact including absence of mistake or accident, motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge or identity." (Emphasis added.)

Appellant asserts that admission of evidence of specific details of the fight between appellant and Don Waltz particularly testimony relating to the appellant kicking Watz in the head, is violative of Rule 55, as it did not fall within any of the exceptions mentioned and was introduced to not only inflame the jury, but to show that appellant had a propensity to commit this type of crime.

Respondent submits that such evidence was admissible to prove (1) a material fact other than those mentioned in the exceptions under Rule 55; (2) modus operandi.

Case law in Utah clearly states that generally speaking, evidence of other crimes is not admissible if its sole purpose is to disgrace the defendant as a person of evil character with a propensity to commit crime and thus likely to have committed the crime charged. State v. Johnson, 25 Utah 2d 160, 478 P.2d 491 (1970).

There are numerous cases, however, which have made

exception to that general rule. Such exception has been made based upon one of the exceptions listed in Rule 55 or at times based upon other reasons relevant to the issue being tried. State v. Daniels, 584 P.2d 880 (Utah 1978) (evidence relevant to explain the circumstances surrounding the instant crime is admissible for that purpose, though it tends to connect defendant with another crime); State v. Brown, 577 P.2d 135 (Utah 1978) (evidence of commission of other crimes admissible to prove knowledge, intent, and modus operandi); State v. Cauble, 563 P.2d 775 (Utah 1977) (evidence of other crimes admitted to show intent); State v. Underwood, 25 Utah 2d 234, 479 P.2d 794 (1971) (evidence of commission of other crimes is relevant where it is an integral part of competent, relevant evidence of the crime charged); see also State v. Baran, 25 Utah 2d 16, 474 P.2d 728 (1970); and State v. Scott, 175 P.2d 1016 (Utah 1947).

Respondent submits that evidence of details of the earlier fight, adduced on cross-examination and rebuttal testimony, were relevant to prove a "material fact" under Rule 55. Appellant had denied kicking the victim, Lynn Oliver, in the case at bar. The crux of the State's case regarding the second degree murder charge revolved around the issue as to whether appellant kicked the victim in the head. There was one eyewitness who testified that she

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